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CELA
BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of )
) MUR 6425
Ed Martin; Ed Martin for Congressand )
Randall J. McArthur, in his official )
capacity as treasurer; SeveAB.com for )
Amarica )

AMENDED CERTIFICATION

I, Shelley E. Garr, recording secretary for the Federal Election Commission executive

session on August 30, 2011, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a vote of 5-1 to

take the following actions in MUR 642S:

L.»

" Approve the appropriate letters.

Find no reason to believe that Ed Martin, Ed Martin for Congress and Randall J.
McArthur, in his official capseity as treasurer, and SaveAB.com for America

" violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).

Dismiss, as a matter of prosecutorial discretion, any violations of -
2U.S.C. § 441a(a).

* Disthiss, us'a matter of prosecutorial discretivn; aty violation of

2 U.S.C. § 434 by Ed Martin for Congrows and Razedalt J. McArthuy, in his official
capacity as treasuzpr, and send a cautionary letter.

Dismiss, as a matter of prosecuterial discretian, any violation of
2U.S.C. § 441d by Ed Matin for Congress and Randall J. MiAsthur, in his
official capacity as treasurer, and send a cautionary letter.

Apprave the Factual and Legal Analyses as recommended in the First General

Counsel’s Report dated June 20, 2011 with edits previously circulated and with

Closs the file.
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Certificationfor MUR 6425 “he
August 30, 2011

Commissioners Bauerly, Hunter, McGahn II, Petersen, and Walther voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub dissented.

Attest:

i&ﬁ
Depm by 12 20y g%f_@/\/
v Date helley E.

Deputy Secretary of the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
SEP -6 201
RTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED
Russ Carnahan
7000 Chippewa Street
Suite 100

St. Louis, MO 63119 .
RE: MUR 6425
Ed Martin;
Ed Martin for Congress
and Randall J. McArthur, in his
official capacity as treasurer;
SaveAB.com for America

Dear Mr. Carnahan:

On August 30, 2011, the Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations in your
complzint dated November 8, 2010, and found that on the basis of the information provided in
your complaint, and information provided by the respondents, there is no reason to believe Ed
Martin, Ed Martin for Congress and Randall J. McAxthur, in his official capacity as tredsurer, and
SaveAB.com for America, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). Also on this date, the Commission
dismissed any violations of 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a). In addition, the Commission dismissed any
violation of 2 'U.S.C. §§ 434 and 441d by Ed Martin for Congress and Randall J. McArthur, in
his official capacity as treasurer, and sent a cautionary letter. Accordingly, on August 30, 2011,

the Commission closed the file in this matter.

- Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 3Q days. See
Statément of Policy Régarding Disclosure of Closed Enfarcoment and Related Files,

68 Fed, Reg. 70426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General
Counsel’s Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). The Factual and
Legal Analyses, which mare fully explain the Commission's findings, aro enclosed.

ir
.-T.h
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Russ Carnahan
MUR 6425

Page 2

1

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of tire Commission's dismissal of this action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).

Sincerely,

P. Christopher Hughey
Acting General Counsel

AL UL

BY: Mark D. Shonkwiler
Assistant General Counsel

Enclosures
Factual and Legal Analyses

F
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

RESPONDENT: Ed Martin MUR: 6425
Ed Martin for Congress and
Randall J. McArthur, in his
official capacity as treasurer

L GENERATION OF MATTER

This matter was generated by a complaint filed by Russ Camnahan. See
2U.S.C. § 437(gXa)1).

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A.  Factual Background

Ed Martin was the Republican nominee for the U.S. House of Representatives from
Missouri’s Third Congressional District for the 2010 election cycle. Mr. Martin filed his
Statement of Candidacy, designating Ed Martin for Congress as his principal campaign
committee, on July 21, 2009.

During the summer of 2008, prior to his; 2010 candidacy, Mr. Martin started a grassroots
movemerit to oppose the impending sale of Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. to a foreign
company. Various individuals within the movement used their own funds t0 buy a domain name
and set up a website (www.SaveAB.com), which was used to éatlmr signatures for an on-line
petition and create a list of supporters’ e-mail addresses.' Respomse at 1. On July 3, 2008, in
response to the movement’s rapid growth and apparent need for financial structure in terms of

future activities, Mr. Martin founded a non-profit corporation, SaveAB.com for America

! Although the response identifies Mike Smith of Miken Technologies as the individual who set up and

continually maintained the website, it does not identify the individual who purchased the domain name. A printout
of dommin name sexwrch results, attachred to tie complaint &s Exhibit C, shows that www.saveab.com was registered
to Scott Leiendecker as of January 14, 2010, .
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MUR 6425 (Ed Martin for Congress)

Factual & Legal Analysis

Page 2

(“Corporation™). Response at 2. However, about two weeks later, on July 14, 2008, it was

announced that Anheuser-Busch would be sold to the foreign company. The sale became final in

" November 2008. Aithough the movement was active during the summer of 2008, it had no

activity following the July 2008 announcement of the sale. See May 31, 2011, Response
Clarification (“Clarification”) at 2. The Corporation dissolved on March 31, 2009,2 and the
www.SaveAB.com website was deactivated. Complaint Bxhibits B and D; Regponse
Attachment 1.

During the year after the sale of Anheuser-Busch, the former leaders of the SaveAB.com
movement continued to reeeive requests for comments and inquiries about leading possible
boycotts of, or protests against, the foreign-owned Anheuser-Busch. Clarification at 1.
According to Mr. Martin, the number of these inquiries began to increase as the one-year
anniversary of the Anheuser-Busch sale approached in late 2009. /d. In December 2009,

Mr. Martin, in conjunction with other individuals associated with the SaveAB.com movement,
reactivated the website. Complaint Exhibit B; Response at 2; Clarification at 1,2. When the
website went live again, it featured a single letter lamenting the sale of Anheuser-Busch,
thanking Umuihesses who supported the movement, and iriforminig supporters of Mr. Marfin’s
candidsgy. Notwithatonding tlie suggestion in dhe Resnonne ard Chrrification about the moed to
respond to inquiries about SaveAB.com’s position an purported plans te engage in a boycott or
protest, the letter on the website makes no mention of these topics. The portion of the letter
regarding Mr. Martin's congreesional campaign stated:

Also, one of the original Saveab.com founders, Ed Martin, has decided to take

this fighting spirit to Caomgress. He is wonusing for Congress in the Third
Congressional District right here in Missouri — this district includes the old

2 The Articles of Dissolution list the dissolution date as December 17, 2008; however, Mr. Martin did not file
the Articles of Dissoistion and Terminatitn with the Missousi Secretary of State until March 31, 2809.
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MUR 6425 (Ed Martin for Congress)
Factual & Legal Analysis
Page 3

headquarters of A-B down on Pestalozzi Street. (Third Congressional District
congists of Bt. Louis City, St Louis County, Jefferson County and St.
Genevieve)[.]

Ed Martin is running, as he said, to “fight for jobs, for the future and for the
Amesicm dreamn - whigh. is all in jeopardy if we don’t stop shipping eur jobs to
Mexico and India and running up our debt to China!”

If you are interested in finding out more, or joining Ed Martin in this endeavor,
visit his website TODAY:

The letter then liniced to a page on the Committee’s website titled, “Welcome SaveAB.com
Friends.” This page inwited visitors to sign up for e-mail updates, volunirzer to help, and
“considar a financial coniribuiion.” Compdaisi Exhibit E. The letter waa also e-nwiled; airag
with the link to the Cammittee’s website, from a wyww.SaveAB.com e-mail account to .
SaveAB.com supporters. Althéugh the letter claims to be reaching 85,000 supporters, both the
complaint and various news articles report that the e-mail was sent to 40,000 supporters. See,
e.g., Complaint Exhibit B.

Complainant alleges that the December 2009 www.SaveAB.com website and e-mail
constitute prohibited corporate contributions in the form of SaveAB.com for America’s corporate
name, logo, website, and mailing list, in violation of Z U.S.C. § 441b(a). Complainant further
alleges that Mr. Martin and the Committee failed to inclwie proper disclaimers ¥n the website
and e-moail, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441d(a).

Mr. Mnrdtin, on behslf of all of the respondents, expressly denies the allegetions.

Mr. Martin asserts that the short-lived corporation never held any assets, made any purchases, or
conducted any organizational meetings. Response at 2; Clarification at 1. Rather, the activity of
the SaveAB.com movement was paid for out-of-pocket by the individuals associated with it, and,
upon dissolution, “anything that the participants created or gathered during the grassroots effort —
whether information, photographs, placard [sic], shirts, etc. — . . . was kept by each person
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MUR 6425 (Ed Martin for Congress)
Factual & Legal Analysis
Page 4

individually.” Clarification at 1. Specifically, the website and the data it collected were
continually maintained by Mike Smith, the same individual who set up the website at the
beginning of the movement, much as the telephone system was continually maintained by

Mr. Martin. Response at 1; Clarification at 1. As the Corporation held no assets, it did not have
any assets to distribute when it dissolved. Response at 2,

Mr. Matin also asserts that U decision to creaté the December 2009 letter was primarily
his, and not that of any lepal pmiity. Clarifimtian at 1-2. Although be daes not recall othar
persons with wham be discussed the decision, Mr. Martin “feel[s] certain™ that ha spoke with
Mr. Smith because “[he] was the opezatar of the website and e-mail system.” Clarification at 1.
He further explains that the letter was in response to multiple requests for interviews and
statements on the one-year anniversary of the Anheuser-Busch sale, and was meant to thank
sum and “end the discussion and questions” about the SaveAB.com effort. Jd There is no
indication from the response that any marginal costs were incurred or funds disbursed to place
the letter on the SaveAB.com website or to send the accompanying e-mail.

B.  Legal Analysis

1. Alleged Corporate Contributions

A contributicm is any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or anything of value made by any
person for the purpose of influencing any election for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(a)(1).
Commission regulations define “anything aof value” to include in-kind contributions: the
provision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and normal
charge. 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“the Act”), prohibits
corporations from making contributions from their general treasury funds in connection with any
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MUR 6425 (Ed Martin for Congress)
Factual & Legal Analysis
Page §

election of any candidate for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). A candidate, political
committee, or other person is prohibited from knowingly accepting or receiving any corporate
contribution. /d.

The assets that allegedly constitute the in-kind corporate contribution - the SaveAB.com
name and logo, domain name, and e-mail list — were developed while SaveAB.com was a
gressroots movement, before it incorporated. Mr. Martin explains, for example, that two
individwsls bouglit & domain name and szt up a website at the time the movement was founded.

Fuwtimmnore, it appemxs that the Corporation did npthing to taks control of thape assets in the two

_weeks it was operational: Mr. Martin specifically asserts that the Cerporation never held any

assets and therefore had no assets to distribute upon dissolution. Rather, these items were
continually maintained by the individuals who created them. Moreover, the Corporation
officially dissolved four months before Mr. Martin became a candidate and eight months before
the decision to send an e-mail to the movement’s supporters. That is, the Corporation did not
exist at any time that the assets could have been transferred to Mr. Martin in his capacity as an
agent of the Conmnittee. Accordingly, the Commission found no reason to befieve that Ed
Martin or E4 Martixn for Congress violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).
2, Potontial Excessive Contribution

The provision of the assets ceuld constitule an in-kind contribution to the Committee.
And if the amount of any contribution exceeded $2,400, and was made by someone other than
Mr. Martin, it could vmlate the applicable contribution limit. See 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A).

However, it is not clear which person or persons owned the assets at the time of the

" December 2009 communication, and thus would have made the contribution. Individual

members associated with the SaveAB.com movement set up and continually maintained the
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assets using their own funds; for example, Mr. Smith operated the website and Mr. Martin
provided the telephone system. It appears that these assets may have been available to any of the
founders of the movement, and were not necessarily possessed by one individual. Accordingly,
Mr. Martin, who as the candidate was not subject to the $2,400 contribution limit, may have had
a valid claim to the use of the website and mailing list.

Moreover, the value of these assets has not been detzrmined. The Commission_ has, in
prior instances, comidess] corppmte names mad ftodomarks st eenail lists th be things of valoe.
See, e.g., MUR 6322 (Sowers for Congress); MURs 5876 (Bawman for Congress) and 6127
(Obama for America). Although a widely-recogpized trademarked corporate name and logo may
have significant value, see, e.g., MUR 4340 (Tweezerman), the value of a short-lived
organization’s un-trademarked name, logo and domain name is less clear. With respect to email
lists generally, the Commission has determined the value of such lists by considering factors
such as: criteria used to develop the list, the age of the list, and whether the list has been
maintained/updated since its creation. See, e.g.,, MURs 5876 (Bowman for Congress) and 6127

. (Obama for America). Given the uncertainty of the ownership of these assets, the additional

effort recquired to ascertain the value of these assets, and considering that the amount of any
potential contribution is relatively small, further uce of Cosmnission resources for au
investigatinn is not wzmauted. Ancordingly, ttee Commiinsion dismisscti any pessible violation of
2U.S.C. § 441a(a), The Commissian also dismissed any possible violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434 for
the Committee’s failure to report the receipt of any in-kind contribution, and sent a cautionary

letter.
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3. Alleged Disclaimer Violations

The Act, as implemented through Commission regulations, requires that e-mail of more
than 500 substantially similar communications include a disclaimer when sent by a political
committee. 2 U.S.C. § 441d(a); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(a)(1). Additionally, disclaimers must be
included on ail internet websites of political committees that are available to the general public.
Id If the communication is authorized by the candidate, his commitiee, or the agent of either,
but is paid for by any other parson, the disclaimer must clearly state that the communication is
paid for by such other person and anthorieed by sueh candidate, nammiitee, onagest.

2 US.C. § 441d(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.11(b)2).

The December 2009 letter sent under the SaveAB.com logo was initiated and created
primarily by Mr. Martin, and appears to have been posted on the website and e-mailed to 40,000
recipients. Mr. Martin used Mr. Smith’s access to and control over the e-mail list to disseminate
the e-mml Mr. Martin, who is an agent of the Committee, authorized the e-mail and the use of
the Committee’s logo in the e-mails with the link to the Committee’s website. It appears,
however, that Mr. Smith paid whatever costs were associated with the dissemination of the e-
mail. Accordiagly, the e-mail shoald heve included a disclalmer stating that it was paid for by
Mr. Smitk ant asthorized by Ed Martia for Congress.

Similarly, Mr. Martia primarily decided to oxactivaie the www.SavaAB.com website in
Deeamber 2009. Given that the letter eeferenced Mr. Martin’s federal candidacy, he can be
viewed as acting as an agent of the Committee. At that time, however, the website was operated
by Mr. Smith, and the domain name was owned by Mr. Leiendecker. Accordingly, the website
should have included a disclaimer stating that the communication was paid for by Mr. Smith and

Mr. Leiendecker and authorized by Ed Martin for Congress.
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It thus appears that Ed Martin for Congress violated 2 U.S.C. § 441d by failing to include
appropriate disclaimers on the website and e-mail, over which Mr. Martin, as its agent, had some
measure of control. However, while the communications did not contain the language required
by the statute, they did include some identifying information. The communications included the
Committee’s logo, which clearly stated “Ed Martin for Congress,” as the link to the campaign’s
website. Given these circumstances, the Commission dismissed the violations of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d, and sent a cautionary letter.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
RESPONDENT: SaveAB.com for America MUR: 6425
L GENERATION OF MATTER

This matter was generated by a complaint filed by Russ Carnahan. See
2US.C. § 437(g)(a)1).

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Factual Background

Ed Martin was the Republican nominee for the U.S. House of Representatives from
Missouri’s Third Congressional District for the 2010 election cycle. Mr. Martin filed his
Statement of Candidacy, designating Ed Martin for Congress as his principal campaign
committee, on July 21, 2009.

During the summer of 2008, prior to his 2010 candidacy, Mr. Martin started a grassroots
movement to oppose the impending sale of Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. to a foreign
company. Various individuals within the movement usedthelr own funds to buy a domain name
and set up a website (www.SaveAB.com), which was used to gather signatures for an on-line
petition and create a list of supportors’ c-mail addresses. Response at 1. On July 3, 2008, in
responge to tha movament’s rapid growth and apparent need for financial structnre in terms of
future activities, Mr. Martin founded a nan-profit corparation, SaveAB.com for America
(“Corporation”). Response at2. However, about two weeks later, on July 14, 2008, it was
announced that Anheuser-Busch would be sold to the foreign company. The sale became final in
November 2008. Although the movement was active during the summer of 2008, it had no
activity following the July 2008 announcement of the sale. See May 31, 2011, Response

Ry
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MUR 6425 (SaveAB.com for Amenca)
Factual & Legal Analysis
Page 2

Clarification (“Clarification”) at 2. The Corporation dissolved on March 31, 2009," and the
www.SaveAB.com website was deactivated. Complaint Exhibits B and D; Response
Attachment 1.

During the year after the sale of Anheuser-Busch, the former leaders of the SaveAB.com
movement continued to receive requests for comments and inquiries about leading possible
boycotts of, or protests against, the foreign—owned Anheuser-Busch. Clarificationat 1.
Acannling to Mr. Martin, thn mmnber of these itiquiries began tir inctease as the one-yamr
anniversary of the Anhesiser-Busch sale approachzd in late 2009. /d. In December 2009,

Mr. Martin, in conjunction with other individuals associated with the SaveAB.com movement,
reactivated the website. Complaint Exhibit B; Response at 2; Clarification at 1, 2. When the
website went live again, it featured a single letter lamenting the sale of Anheuser-Busch,
thanking businesses who supported the movement, and informing supporters of Mr. Martin’s
candidacy. Notwithstanding the mééestion in the Response and Clarification about the need to
respond to inquiries about SaveAB.com’s position on purported plans to engage in a boycott or
protest, the letter on the website makes no mention of these topics. The portion of the letter
regarding Mr. Martin’s congressionai cantpaign stated: |

Also, one ufi the oiiginal Saveab.com fbunders, Etl Mariin, has decidaid to take

this fighting spirit to Congress. He is running for Congress in the Third

Cengmessional District right here in Missoori — this district includes the old

headquarters of A-B down on Pestalozzi Street. (Third Congressional District

consists of St. Louis City, St. Louis County. Jefferson County and St.

Genevieve)[.]

Ed Mattin is running, as he said, to “fight for jobs, for the future and for the

American dream — which is all in jeopardy if we dor’t stop shipping otn jobs to
Mexico and India and running up onr debt to China!”

! The Articles of Dissolution list the dissolution date o3 December 17, 2008; however, Kir. Martin did not file
the Articles of Dissolution ang Termination with the Missouxi Sgpesstary of Staze antil Mixch 31, 2008.

1
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If you are interested in finding out more, or Jomlng Ed Martin in this endeavor,
visit his website TODAY:

The letter then linked to a page on the Committee’s website titled, “Welcome SaveAB.com
Friends.” This page invited visitors to sign up for e-mail ﬁpdates, volunteer to help, and
“consider a financial contribution.” Complaint Exhibit E. The Ietter was also e-mailed, along
with the link to the Committee’s website, from a www.SaveAB.com e-mail account to
SaweAB.com supporters. Although the letter claims to be reaching 85,000 supporters, both the
complaint and vatious aewe -arlinlas report that the e-mail was sext to .40,000 supporters. See,
e.g., Complaint Exhibit B.

Complainant alleges that the December 2009 mﬁgg&m website and e-mail
constitute prohibited corporate contributions in the form of SaveAB.com for America’s corporate
name, logo, website, and mailing list, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).

Mr. Martin, on behalf of all of the respondents, expressly denies the allegations. Mr.
Martin asserts that the short-lived corporation never held any assets, made any purchases, or'
conducted any organizational meetings. Response at 2; Clarification at 1. Rather, the activity of
the SaveAB.com movement was paid forf ;mt-of-pocket by the indivithuals associated with it, and,
upon dissolution, “anything that the plzl'.ic:ipmts createni or gathered during the grassroots effort ~
whether infinntation, phntographs, plecasd [sic], sbirts, eta. — . . . was kept by each persan
individually.” Clarification at 1. Specifically, the website and the data it collected were
continually maintained by Mike Smith, the same individual who set up the website at the
beginning of the movement, much as the telephone system was continually maintained by
Mr, Martin, Response at 1; Clarification at ;. As the Corporation held no assets, it did not have

any assets to distribute when it dissolved. Response at 2. Mr. Martin also asserts that the
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decision to create the December 2009 letter was primarily his, and not that of any legal entity.
Clarification at 1-2.

B.  Legal Analysis

A contribution is any gift, subscriptio;l. loan, advance, or anything of value made by any
person for the purpose of influencing any electien for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(a)(1).
Comission reulations define “anythirg of value” to inelude ii-idad contributions: the
provision of gunds or servines witimut charge ar at a charge that is less thun the usual and nnnnal
charge. 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, prohibits corporations from
making contributions from their general treasury funds in connection with any election of any
candidate for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(s). A candidate, political committce, or other
person is prohibited from knowingly aceepung or receiving any corporate contribution. /d.

The assets that allegedly constitute tllle'in-kix.t;! corporate contribution — the SaveAB.com
name and logo, domain name, and e-mail list ~ were developed while SaveAB.com was a
grassroots moveraent, before it incorporated. Mr. Martin explnms, for example, that two
individuals bought a domain name and set up a website at the time fir: movement was founded.
Furthernane, it aopents that the Cospemsion’ did nothing to take contml ef thear ansats in the two
weaks it was eperational: Mr. Martin speciﬁ_cdly asserts that the Corporation never held any
assets and therefare had no assets to distribute upon dissclution. Rather, these items were
continually maintained by the individuals who created them. Moreover, the Corporation
officially dissolved four months before Mr. Martin became a candidate and eight months before
the decision to send an e-mail to the movement’s su;po:ters That is, the Corporation did not
exist at any time that the assets could have been transferred to Mr. Martin in his capacity as an
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1  agent of the Committee. Accordingly, the Commission found no reason to believe that

2  SaveAB.com for America violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).




1184436831061

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

SEP -6 201
VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL
Ed Martin
St. Louis, MO 63109 .
RE: MUR 6425

On November 12, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified you of a
complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended. A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time.

Upon further neview of the allegations contained in the complaint and information
provided by you, en August 30, 2011, the Commission found no ruason to believe that
you and SaveAB.com for America violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).” Accordingly, the
Commission closed its file in this matter. The Fagtal and Legal Auanlysés, whioh more
fully explains tha Commission’s findings, is enclosed for your infarmntina..

Dacuments related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.
See Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files,
68 Fed. Reg. 70462 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First
General Counsel’s Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009).

If you hmve any questions, please contact Marguet Ritzurt, the atternoy assignod

-

Mark D. Shonkwiler
Assistant General Counsel

* to this mutter, st (202) 694-1650.

.-
-

Enclosure
Factual and Legal Analysis
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
RESPONDENT: SaveAB.com for America MUR: 6425
L GENERATION OF MATTER

This matter was generated by a complaint filed by Russ Carnahan. See
2 U.S.C. § 437(g)a)(1).

II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Factaal Background

Ed Martin was the Republican nominee for the U.S. House of Representatives from
Missouri’s Third Congressional District for the 2010 election cycle. Mr. Martin filed his
Statement of Candidacy, designating Ed Martin for Congress as his principal campaign
committee, on July 21, 2009.

During the summer of 2008, prior to his 2010 candidacy, Mr. Martin started a grassroots
movement to oppose the impending sale of Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. to a foreign
company. Various individuals within the movement used their own funds to buy a domain name
and set up a website (www.SaveAB.com), which was used to gather signatures for an on-lime
petition and create a list of supporters’ e-mail addresses. Response at 1. On July 3, 2008, in
respanse to tha movement’s rapid growth and appasent need for fmancied structnso in terms of
future activities, Mr. Martin founded a non-profit corporatian, SaveAB_com for America
(“Corporation™). Response at 2. However, about two weeks later, on July 14, 2008, it was
announced that Anheuser-Busch would be sold to the foreign company. The sale became final in
November 2008. Although the movement was active during the summer of 2008, it had no
activity following the July 2008 announcement of the sale. See May 31, 2011, Response
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Clarification (“Clarification™) at 2. The Corporation dissolved on March 31, 2009,' and the
www.SaveAB.com website was deactivated. Complaint Exhibits B and D; Response
Attachment 1.

During the year after the sale of Anheuser-Busch, the former leaders of the SaveAB.com
movement continued to receive requests for comments and inquiries about leading possible
boycotts of; or protests against, the foreign-owned Anheuser-Busch. Clarificadon at 1.
Accondiitg to Mr. Martin, thn nunntier of these inquirito begwn to inurease as the ane-year
anmiversary of the Anlesiser-Busch sale appmachod in late 2009. Id. In December 2009,

Mr. Martin, in conjunction with other individuals associated with the SaveAB.com movement,
reactivated the website. Complaint Exhibit B; Response at 2; Clarification at 1, 2. When the
website went live again, it featured a single letter lamenting the sale of Anheuser-Busch,
thanking businesses who supported the movement, and informing supporters of Mr. Martin’s
candidacy. Notwithstanding the suggestion in the Response and Clarification about the need to
respond to inquiries about SaveAB.com’s position on purported plans to engage in a boycott or
protest, the letter on the website makes no mention of these topics. The portion of the letter
regazding Mr. Martin’s conptessional campaign seated:

Also, one of tim: original Sawveab.amnn founders, Eti Mastia, has tecided to taite

this fighting spirit to Congress. He is running for Congress in the Third

Cangtessional Distriet right here in Missouri ~ this district includes the old

headquarters of A-B down on Pestalozzi Street. (Third Congressional District

consists of St Louis City, St Louis County, Jefferson County and St.

Genevieve)[.]

Ed Martin is running, ashesald,to“ﬁghtforjobs for the future and for the

American dream — which is all in jeopardy if we don’t stop shipping oun jobs to
" Mexico end India and running up onr debt to China!”

! The Articles of Dissolutien list the dissolution date as Decamber 17, 2008; hovrever, Mr. Martin dld not file

the Articles of Bissolutinn asd Termination with the Missounl Sesrexary of Stuce antil March 31, 2009,
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If you are interested in finding out more, or joining Ed Martin in this endeavor,
vmt his website TODAY:

The letter then linked to a page on the Committee’s website titled, “Welcome SaveAB.com
Friends.” This page invited visitors to sign up for e-mail updates, volunteer to help, and
“consider a financial contribution.” Complaint Exhibit E. The letter was also e-mailed, along
with the link to the Committee’s website, from a www.SaveAB.com e-mail accomnt to
SaveAB.com supporters. Although the letter claims to be reaching 85,008 supporters, both the
ct;mplahlt and various newe articles report that tin: e-mail was sent to 40,000 supportars. See,
e.g., Complaint Exhibit B.

Complainant alleges that the December 2009 www.SaveAB.com website and e-mail
constitute prohibited corporate contributions in the form of SaveAB.com for America’s corporate
name, logo, website, and mailing list, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).

Mr. Martin, on behalf of all of the respondents, expressly denies the allegations. M.
Martin asserts that the short-lived corporation never held any assets, made any purchases, or
conducted any organizational meetings. Response at 2; Clarification at 1. Rather, the activity of
the SaveAB.com movement was paid for out-of-pocket by the individuals associated with it, and,
upoa dissolution, “anything that the participants crcated or gathered during the grassroots effort —
whether information, photographs, placard [sic], shirtc, etc. —. . . was kept by each persnn
individually.” Clarification at 1. Spacifically, the website and the data it collected were
continually maintained by Mike Smith, the same individual who set up the website at the
bfginning of the movement, much as the telephone system was continually maintained by
Mr. Martin. Response at 1; Clarification at 1. As the Corporation held no assets, it did not have

any assets to distribute when it dissolved. Response at 2. Mr. Martin also asserts that the
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decision to create the December 2009 letter was primarily his, and not that of any legal entity.
Clarification at 1-2.

B.  Legal Analysis

A contribution is any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or anything of value made by any
person for the purpose of influencing any election for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(a)(1).
Carmusission regulaticns define “anything of value™ to include in-ldnd contributions: the
provinian of grmds or aervices witiout aharge ar &t a charge that is lss than tire usiml and snmmal
charge. i1 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).

°  The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, prohibits corporations from
making contributions from their general treasury funds in connection with any election of any
candidate for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). A candidate, political committee, or other
person is pmhibite_d___from knowingly accepting or receiving any corpora;te contribution. Jd ,

The assets that allegedly constitute the in-kind corporate contribution ~ the SaveAB.com
name and logo, domain name, and e-mail list — were developed while SaveAB.com was a
grassroots movement, before it incorporated. Mr. Martin explains, for example, that two
individuals bought a domzia nmne and set up a website at the time the movement was founded.
Furthermere, it appears that the Corpransion did wething to take sondn] of thes assets in the two
weoks it was aperational: Mr. Martin specifically asserts that the Corparation never hald any
assets and therefore had no assets to distribute upan dissolutian. Rather, these items were
continually maintained by the individuals who created them. Moreover, the Corporation
officially dissolved four months before Mr. Martin became a candidate and eight months before .

the decision to send an e-mail to the movement’s supporters. That is, the Corporation did not

exist at any time that the assets could have been transferred to Mr. Martin in his capacity as an




w
o
v
"
0
M

MUR 6425 (SaveAB.com for America)
Factual & Legal Analysis  riz!
Page §

1 agent of the Committee. Accordingly, the Commission found no reason to believe that

2 SaveAB.com for America violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).

A

el
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

SEP -6 201

' VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL

Randall J. McArthur, Treasurer
Ed Martin for Congress
P.O. Box 29480

St. Louis, MO 63126

RE: MUR 6425
Dear Mr. McArthur:

On November 12, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified Ed Martin for
Congress and you, in your official capacity as treasurer, (“Committee™) of a complaint
alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (“the Act”). A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time.

Upon further ruview of the allegations contained in the comiplaint and information
provided by the Committee, on August 30, 2011, the Commisgsion found no nsason t0
believe that Ed Martin for Congress and you, in your official capacity as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). Also on this date, the Commissinn vated to dismiss any
violations of 2 U.S.C. §§ 441a(a), 434, and 441d by the Committee. Accoxdingly, the
Commission closed its file in this matter. The Factual and Legal Analysis, which more
fully explains the Commission’s findings, is enclosed for your information.

Based on the information before the Commission, it appears that the Committee
may have violated 2 U.8.C. § 434 by failing to report the receipt of an in-kind
contribution and 2 U.S.C. § 441d by failing to include a complete diselaimer on an e-mail
and website. The Commission cautions the Committee to take steps to ensure that its
conduct is in complinnoe with the Act and Commission reguiatinns.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record witldn 3/} days.
See Statement of Policy Reganding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files,
68 Fed. Reg. 70462 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First
General Counsel’s Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fexd. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009).

h:t'._f
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Randall J. McArthur, Treasurer
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If you have any questions, please contact Margaret Ritzert, the attorney assigned

to this matter, at (202) 694-1650.
Sincerely, ' I ! !

Mark D. Shonkwiler
Assistant General Counsel

Enclosure:
Factual and Legal Analysis
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
RESPONDENT: Ed Martin MUR: 6425
Ed Martin for Congress and
Randall J. McArthur, in his
official capacity as treasurer

L GENERATION OF MATTER

This matter was generated by a complaint filed by Russ Carnahan. See
2 U.S.C. § 437(g)(a)1).
II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Factual Rackground

Ed Martin was the Republican nominee for the U.S. House of Representatives from
Missouri’s Third Congressional District for the 2010 election cycle. Mr. Martin filed his
Statement of Candidacy, designating Ed Martin for Congress as his principal campaign
committee, on July 21, 2009. |

During the summer of 2008, prior to his 2010 candidacy, Mr. Martin started a grassroots
movementﬁ oppose the impending sale of Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. to a foreign
company. Various individuals within the movement used their ewn funds to buy a domain name
and sct up a website (Www.SaveAB.com), which wan used o gather signatumes for an on-line
petition and create a list of supporters’ e-mail addresses.! Response at 1. Qn July 3, 2008, in
response to the movement’s rapid growth and apparent need for financial structure in terms of

future activities, Mr. Martin founded a non-profit corporation, SaveAB.com for America

! Although the response identifies Mike Smith of Miken Technologies as the individual who set up and
continually mainteined the website, it does not identify the individual who purchased the domain naame. A printout
of domain name search results, attached to the complaint as Exhibit C, shows that www,saveab.com was registered
to Scott Leiendecker as of January 14, 2010.
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(“Corporation”). Response at 2. However, about two weeks later, on July 14, 2008, it was
announced that Anheuser-Busch would be sold to the foreign company. The sale became final in
November 2008. Although the movement was active during the summer of 2008, it had no
activity following the July 2008 announcement of the sale. See May 31, 2011, Rcsponse
Clarification (“Clarification”) at 2. The Corporation dissolved on March 31, 2009,% and the
www.SaveAB.com website was deactivated. Complaint Exhibits B and D; Response
Attachment 1.

During the year after the sale of Anheuser-Busch, the former leaders of the SaveAB.com
movement continued to receive requests for oomments and inquiries about leading possible
boycotts of, or protests against, the foreign-owned Anheuser-Busch. Clarification at 1.
According to Mr. Martin, the number of these inquiries began to increase as the one-year
anniversary of the Anheuser-Busch sale approached in late 2009. /d. In December 2009,

Mr. Martin, in conjunction with other individuals associated with the SaveAB.com movement,
reactivated the website. Complaint Exhibit B; Response at 2; Clarification at 1, 2. When the
website went live again, it featured a single letter lamenting the sale of Anheuser-Busch,
thanking businesses who supported the movement, and informing supporters of Mr. Martin's
candidacy. Notwithstanding the suggestien in tho Responue and Clurification about the nead to
respond ¢o inquinies ahaut SaveAB.com’s position on purpoxted plans to engage in » boyeott or
protest, the letter on the website makes no mention of these topics. The portion of the letier
regarding Mr. Martin’s congressional campaign stated:

Also, one of the original Saveab.com founders, Ed Martin, has decided to take

this fighting spirit to Congress. He is runuing for Congress in the Third
Congressional District right here in Missouri —~ this district includes the old

2 The Articles of Dissolution list the dissolution date as December 17, 2008; however, Mr. Martin did not file
the Articles of Dirsoirtisn s0d Terminatim with thie Missouri Secretary of State antil March 31, 2009,
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headquarters of A-B down on Pestalozzi Street. (Third Congressional District
consists of 8t. Louis City, St. Louis County, Jeiferson County and St.
Genevieve)[.]

Ed Martin is running, as he said, to “fight for jobs, for the future and for the
Amexican dream — whish is all i jeopardy if we don’t stop shipping our jobs to
Mexico and India and running up our debt to China!™

If you are interested in finding out more, or joining Ed Martin in this endeavor,
visit his website TODAY:

The letter then liziced to a page on the Committee’s website titled, “Welcome SaveAB.com
Friends.” This page invited visitors to sign up for e-mail updages, volunteer to help, and
“considar a finencial contribnticn.” Complaint Exhibit E. The letter was also e-railed, along
with the link to the Committee’s website, ﬁ'om a www.SaveARB.com e-mail account to
SaveAB.com supporters. Although the letter claims to be reaching 85,000 supporters, both the
complaint and various news articles report that the e-mail was sent to 40,000 supporters. See, .
e.g., Complaint Exhibit B. )

Complainant alleges that the December 2009 www.SaveAB.com website and e-mail
constitute prohibited corporate contributions in the form of SaveAB.com for America’s corporate
name, logo, website, and mailing list, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). Complaingnt further
alleges that Mr. Martin and the Committee failed t» include proper disclaimers on the website
and e-rail, in violatian of 2 U.S.C. § 441d(a).

Mr. Martin, on bahelf of alt of the respandents, expressly denies the altegetions.

Mr. Martin asserts that the short-lived corporation never held any assets, made any purchases, or

conducted any organizational meetings. Response at 2; Clarification at 1. Rather, the activity of
the SaveAB.com movement was paid for out-of-pocket by the individuals associated withit, and,
upon dissolution, “anything that the participants created or gathered during the grassroots effort —

whether information, photographs, placard [sic], shirts, etc.—. . . was kept by each person
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individually.” Clarification at 1. Specifically, the website and the data it collected were
continually maintained by Mike Smith, the same individual who set up the website at the
beginning of the movement, much as the telephone system was continually maintained by

Mr. Martin. Response at 1; Clarification at 1. As the Corporation held no assets, it did not have
any assets to distribute when it dissolved. Response at 2.

Mr. Martin also asserts that the decision to create the December 2009 letter was primarily
his, and not that of any lcgal entity. Clarification at 1-2. Although he does not recall othor
parsons with wkom he discussed the diecision, Mr. Martin “foel(s] cortain” thut he spoke with
Mr. Smith because “[he] was the opemsttor of the website and e-mail system.” Claxrification at 1.
He further explains that the letter was in response to multiple requests for interviews and

statements on the one-year anniversary of the Anheuser-Busch sale, and was meant to thank

-supporters and “end the discussion and questions” about the SaveAB.com effort. /d There is no

indication from the response that any marginal costs were incurred or funds disbursed to place
the letter on the SaveAB.com website or to send the accompanying e-mail.

B.  Legal Analysis

1. Alleged Corporate Contributions

A contribution i5 any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or anything of value made by any
person for the purpose of influancing any election for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(a)(1).
Commission regulatioas define “anything of value” to include in-kind contributions: the
provision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and normal
charge. 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).
: The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“the Act”), ;rohibits

corporations from making contributions from their general treasury funds in connection with any
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election of any candidate for federal office. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a). A candidate, political
committee, or other person is prohibited from knowingly accepting or receiving any corporate
contribution. Id.

The assets that allegedly constitute the in-kind corporate contribution - the SaveAB.com
name and logo, domain name, and e-mail list — were developed while SaveAB.com was a
grassroots movement, before it incerporated. Mr. Martin explains, for example, that two
individuais bought a domain nmne and set up a website bt the tine the movenzat was founded.
Furtisszzsore, it appeass timt the Corporation did nothing to take control of thesa assets in the twa
weeks it was operational: Mr. Martin specificaly asserts thes the Corporation never hald any
assets and therefore had no assets to distribute upon dissolution. Rather, these items were
continually maintained by the individuals who created them. Moreover, the Corporation
officially dissolved four months before Mr. Martin became a candidate and eight months before
the decision to send an e-mail to the movement’s supporters. That is, the Corporation did not
exist at any time that the assets could have been transferred to Mr. Martin in his capacity as an
agent of the Committee. Accordingly, the Commission found no reason to believe that Ed
Martin or Ed Martin for Congress violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a).

2, Puiontial Excossive Contribusion

The provision of the assets could constitute an in-kind contribution to the Committee.
And if the amount of any contribution exceeded $2,400, and was made by someone other than
Mr. Martin, it could violate the applicable contribution limit. See 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A).

However, it is not clear which person or persons owned the assets at the time of the
December 2009 communication, and thus would have made the contribution. Individ’_ﬁal

members associated with the SaveAB.com movement set up and continually maintained the
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assets using their own funds; for example, Mr. Smith operated the website and Mr. Martin
provided the telephone system. It appears that these assets may have been available to any of the
founders of the movement, and were not necessarily possessed by one individual. Accordingly,
Mr. Martin, who as the candidate was not subject to the $2,400 contribution limit, may have had
a valid claim to the use of the website and mailing list.

Murssver, the wahre of these assets has not been detezmined. The Commission has, in
prior instances, cesmideesd corpomte nmxres nmi tresturnarks ant mnsil lisis to be things of vahue.
See, e.g, MUR 6322 (Sowsrs for Congress); MURs 5876 (Bowman for Congress) aod 6127
(Obama for America). Although a widely-recognized trademarked corporate name and loga may-
have significant value, see, e.g., MUR 4340 (Tweezerman), the value of a short-lived
organization’s un-trademarked name, logo and domain name is less clear. With respect to email
lists generally, the Commission has determined the value of such lists by considering factors
such as: criteria used to develop the list, the age of the list, and whether the list has been
maintained/updated since its creation. See, e.g.,, MURs 5876 (Bowman for Congress) and 6127
(Obama for America). Given the uncertainty of the ownership of these assets, the additional
effort roquired to ascertain tire value of these asvets, and considering that the amomit of amy
potential corssibuticm in relatively small, fixthey uze of Comrmisyiou resouroes fur an
investigation s not wazranted. Acsordingly, the: Commiasion dismissed any poesibile violation of
2US.C. § 441a(a). The Commission also dismissed any possible violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434 for
the Committee’s failure to report the receipt of any in-kind contribution, and sent a cautionary

letter.
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3. Alleged Disclaimer Violations

The Act, as implemented through Commission regulations, requires that e-mail of more
than 500 substantially similar communications include a disclaimer when sent by a political
committee, 2 U.S.C. § 441d(a); 11 CFR. § 110.11(a)(1). Additionally, disclaimers must be
included on all internet websites of political committees that are available to the general public.
Id. If the communicatien is authori=ed by the candidate, his cemmittee, or the agent of either,
but is paid fixr hy any othwr person, the disalaimer must clearly state that the sommneication is
paid for by sach other person and authorized by sueh candidate, canzmittee, or agant.
2US.C. § 441d(a)(2); 11 C.F.B § 110.11(0)(2).

The December 2009 letter sent under the SaveAB.com logo was initiated and created
primarily by Mr. Martin, and appears to have been posted on the website and e-mailed to 40,000
recipients. Mr. Martin used Mr. Smith’s access to and control over the e-mail list to disseminate
the e-mail. Mr. Martin, who is an agent of the Committee, authorized the e-mail and the use of
the Committee’s logo in the e-mails w1th the link to the Committee’s website. It appears,
however, that Mr. Smith paid whatever costs were associated with the dissemination of the e-
mail. Aecortirgly, the e-mail should heve insluded a disclaimer stating that it was peid for by
Mr. Srith and scthosized by Ed Martin for Congross. '

Similarly, Ms. Martin prinmrily desided to reactivase thne www.SaveAB.com website in
December 2009. Given that the letter referenced Mr. Martin’s federal candidacy, he can be
viewed as acting as an agent of the Committee. At that time, however, the website was operated
by Mr. Smith, and the domain name was owned by Mr. Leiendecker. Accordingly, the website
should have included a disclaimer stating that the communication was paid for by Mr. Smith and
Mr. Leiendecker and authorized by Ed Martin for Congress.
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It thus appears that Ed Martin for Congress violated 2 U.S.C. § 441d by failing to include
appropriate disclaimers on the website and e-mail, over which Mr. Martin, as its agent, had some
measure of control. However, while the communications did not contain the language required
by the statute, they did include some identifying information. The communications included the
Committee’s logo, which cleatly stated “Ed Martin for Congress,” as the link to the campaign’s
website. Given these circumstances, the Commission dismissed the viclations of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d, and sent a cautionary letter.
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